I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

The trial court erred in: 

A. Entering judgment for defendant Fred Meyer Stores, Inc. 

("Fred Meyer") (CP 1945-1946); 

B. Entering judgment in favor of defendant Expert Janitorial 

LLC (CP 1942-1944); 

C. Entering Order Granting, In Part, Defendant Expert 

Janitorial LLC's ("Expert") Motion For Summary Judgment (CP 1960-

1963); 

D. Entering the Order Granting Fred Meyer Stores, Inc.'s 

Motion for Summary judgment (CP 1964-1967); and 

E. Entering an Order Approving Fred Meyer Stores, Inc.' s 

2012 Cost Bill and Judgment (CP 1971-1973). 

II. ISSUES PRESENTED 

A. Given the Washington Minimum Wage Act's ("MWA") 

connection to the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA"), should this Court 

look to FLSA appellate decisions from federal court and the United States 

Department of Labor's ("DOL") interpretations as to how an employer is 

defined and how joint employment is determined? 

B. Given the evidence in those two summary judgments, what 

are the relevant factors for determining economic dependence? 

C. Should only the factors identified in Bonnette v. California 

Health & Welfare Agency, 704 F.2d 1465 (9th Cir. 1983), be utilized in 
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determining joint employment particularly given contrary U.S. Supreme 

Court authority, Court of Appeal's authority, as well as contrary 

interpretations by DOL? 

III. INTRODUCTION 

The five appellants) in this appeal ("plaintiffs") worked as janitors 

m Fred Meyer stores for up to 18 months. See CP 194-199. They 

typically worked 7 days a week, 8 or more hours a day and were not only 

not paid overtime, but were not even paid minimum wage under the 

Washington MW A. Id. While their work was difficult and essential to 

Fred Meyer, it was unskilled so, for example, plaintiffs had little, if any, 

training,2 and did not need to speak or understand English to do their job. 

Moreover, their work was primarily supervised by Fred Meyer. CP 1032, 

1039, 1192, 1202-1203,910. While plaintiffs were directly paid by All 

Janitorial or All American Janitorial (the "second tier contractors"), the 

money to pay plaintiffs came from Expert - JMS which was a first tier 

contractor with Fred Meyer and which did not pay the second tier 

contractors such as All Janitorial and All American Janitorial enough 

money for them to pay plaintiffs in accordance with the MW A. See CP 

240-241. 

) Carolina Becerra Becerra, Julio Cesar Martinez Martinez, Alma Becerra, Orlando 
Ventura Reyes, and Adelene Mendoza Solorio (an appellant only against Fred Meyer). 
2 CP 1200 (Martinez), CP 1233 (Mendoza Solorio), CP 1222 (Alma Becerra), CP 1211 
(Ventura-Reyes). 
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Plaintiffs' characteristics and expenences were typical of other 

janitors working at Fred Meyer stores. For example, all of the more than 

30 janitors hired by All Janitorial and All American to work in the Fred 

Meyer stores from 2007 through April 2010 spoke Spanish and did not 

speak English. CP 703. Furthermore, CP 1252-1255 and CP 1278-1279 

are records of days worked by more than 30 such janitors at Fred Meyer 

stores, including plaintiffs, and shows most of them working every day of 

the month. Fred Meyer' s Vice President also admitted both that Fred 

Meyer provided most cleaning and restroom supplies to the janitors and 

that Fred Meyer employees during the day used the san1e supplies to do 

many of the same jobs that the janitors did at night.3 Fred Meyer also 

admitted that from at least 1994-2004 "Fred Meyer used its own 

employees to do janitorial work in Fred Meyer stores in the Pacific 

Northwest." CP 719. 

Plaintiffs also provided declarations from John Ezzo against both 

Expert (CP 549-642) and Fred Meyer (CP 1054-1182). Mr. Ezzo gave 

expert business and historical opinions placing Fred Meyer and Expert as 

participants in what he referred to as the "Building One model" which 

ultimately leads to large retailers, such as Fred Meyer, "first tier" janitorial 

contractors, such as Expert, and "second tier" contractors such as All 

3 "All cleaning supplies, restroom supplies, and mops used by both the janitorial 
contractors at night and by Fred Meyer's retail store employees during the day to clean 
up spills and clean and supply the bathrooms are purchased by Fred Meyer." CP 721 
(Emphasis added). 
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Janitorial and All American Janitorial obtaining and controlling janitorial 

work without paying necessary taxes, or minimum and overtime wages to 

the janitors themselves. At CP 1063, Mr. Ezzo explains: 

24. The Building One model has continued in retail because 
it meets the needs of the participants. The retailers get janitorial 
services at the lowest price possible. It is the cheapest way to 
supply services. The retailers assure quality by maintaining 
tight control over what is done, how it is done and whether the 
service is satisfactory. The 1 sl tier subcontractors win bids 
because they can underbid companies that have their own 
janitors, treat them as employees, pay industrial insurance 
premiums, etc. The 1 st tier subcontractors can win bids Qy 
attracting 2nd tier companies who are willing to try to make a 
profit by misclassification, 7-night shifts, no overtime pay and, 
often, minimum wage violations. The model depends on a 
pool of laborers who are willing to work 7-nights a week and 
long hours without overtime payor, even, minimum wage. 
That is why the model developed in Southern California and 
has expanded with the exploitable labor pool. The events in 
this case are not aberrant or due to unusual behavior by All 
Janitorial or All American Janitorial. It is how too much of 
janitorial work is performed in the retail industry. (Emphasis 
added.) See also CP 555-560. 

Plaintiffs sued (a) Fred Meyer, (b) Expert, a "first tier" contractor 

with Fred Meyer to provide it janitorial services, which had no janitors 

and subcontracted out the actual janitorial work, (c) All Janitorial LLC, a 

subcontractor with Expert between 2007 and January 2010 for the actual 

provision of janitorial services for 19 Fred Meyer stores, (d) Sergey 

Chaban, an owner of All Janitorial, and (e) All American Janitorial, 

another subcontractor of Expert, which took over the cleaning of 19 Fred 

Meyer stores after All Janitorial stopped doing that work in January 2010. 

- 4 -



Plaintiffs alleged that they were employees of each defendant and thus 

entitled to be paid minimum wage and overtime by each of them. CP 1-2. 

All of the defendants denied that any of the plaintiffs were employed by 

them. CP 20, 31, 1464, and 1472. If defendants were correct then 

plaintiffs would be employees of no one and thus would be independent 

contractors under both the FLSA and MW A. 

Defendants, however, are incorrect. The MW A, including its 

definitions, is patterned on the FLSA. 4 The FLSA defines the term 

"employ" as "includes to suffer or permit to work."s Additionally, the 

Washington Legislature amended the overtime provisions of the MWA to 

conform to the FLSA in 1975.6 This is not hotly disputed by defendants 

since Expert admitted in its motion for summary judgment, 

[B]ecause the MW A and its definitions are patterned on the 
FLSA, Washington courts look to interpretations of 
comparable provisions of the FLSA as persuasive authority. 
Anfinson v. Fed Ex Ground Package System, Inc., 159 Wn. 
App. 35, 50; Hisle v. Todd Pacific Shipyards Corp., 113 
Wn. App. 401, 422 (2002). CP 1989. 

The two primary Supreme Court FLSA cases in determining 

whether a company is an employer or joint employer are Rutherford Food 

Corp. v. McComb, 331 U.S 722 (1947), and Goldberg v. Whitaker House 

4 Stahl v. Delicor of Puget Sound, Inc., 148 Wn.2d 876, 885, 64 P.3d 10 (2003); Inniss v. 
Tandy Corp., 141 Wn.2d 517, 523-24, 7 P.3d 807 (2000); Drinkwitz v. Alliant 
Techsystems, Inc., 140 Wn.2d 291, 298, 996 P.2d 582 (2000); Anfinson v. FedEx Ground, 
159 Wn. App. 35, 50,244 P.3d 32 (2010). 
5 29 U.S.C. § 203(g). 
6 Inniss at 523-24; Anfinson at 50. 
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Co-op., Inc., 366 U.S. 28, 33 (1961). Rutherford is important for several 

reasons. First, it explained that the definitions of "employer" and 

"employee" (which use the very broad language of "suffer" or "permit", 

and are the same as the MWA definitions) are "comprehensive enough to 

require its application to many persons and working relationships, which 

prior to this Act, were not deemed to fall within an employer-employee 

category." Id. at 729. 

Secondly, the Rutherford Court explained that the determination of 

joint employment does not depend on "isolated factors but rather upon the 

circumstances of the whole activity." Id. at 730. Finally, the Court 

discussed at page 730 six factors particularly relevant to its determination 

that Kaiser was a joint employer of the meat boners: 

[1] The workers did a specialty job on the production line. 
[2] The responsibility under the boning contracts without 
material changes passed from one boner to another. [3] The 
premises and equipment of Kaiser were used for the work. 
[4] The group had no business organization that could or did 
shift as a unit from one slaughter-house to another. [5] The 
managing official of the plant kept close touch on the 
operation. [6] While profits to the boners depended upon the 
efficiency of their work, it was more like piecework than an 
enterprise that actually depended for success upon the 
initiative, judgment or foresight of the typical independent 
contractor. 

In Goldberg, 366 U.S. at 33, the court held: 

In short, if the 'economic reality' rather than 'technical concepts' 
is to be the test of employment (United States v. Silk, 331 U.S. 
704, 713, 67 S.Ct. 1463, 1468,91 L.Ed. 1757; Rutherford Food 
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Corp. v. McComb, 331 U.S. 722, 729, 67 S.Ct. 1473, 1476, 91 
L.Ed. 1772), these home workers are employees. 

Basing a decision on "economic reality" and "the circumstances of 

the whole activity," requires examination of the historical and business 

underpinnings of actions and documents that attempt to label workers as 

independent contractors rather than employees. In Zheng v. Liberty 

Apparel Co. Inc., 355 F.3d 61, 74 (2d Cir. 2003), the Second Circuit 

explained: 

[H]istorical practice may also be relevant, because, if plaintiffs 
can prove that, as a historical matter, a contracting device has 
developed in response to and as a means to avoid applicable 
labor laws, the prevalence of that device may, in particular 
circumstances, be attributable to widespread evasion of labor 
laws.7 

The Ezzo declarations provide such evidence that both Fred Meyer and 

Expert are part of such "contracting device." 

7 See also Barfield v. New York City Health & Hospitals Corp., 537 F.3d 132, 145-46 (2d 
Cir.2008): 

But nothing in Zheng suggests, as defendants urge, that functional control 
factors are relevant only to identifying subterfuge. To the contrary, Zheng 
makes clear that the reason for "looking beyond a defendant's formal control 
over the physical performance of a plaintiffs work" is to give full "content to the 
broad 'suffer or permit' language in the statute." Id. at 75-76 (quoting 29 U.S.c. 
§ 203(g». In short, Zheng contemplates arrangements under which the totality 
of circumstances demonstrate that workers formally employed by one entity 
operatively function as the joint employees of another entity, even if the 
arrangements were not purposely structured to avoid FLSA obligations. 
(Emphasis added.) 

Thus, while for summary judgment purposes, the evidence does show that the 
arrangements here were "purposely structured" by Fred Meyer and Expert to avoid 
wage and hour obligations, this Court need not so conclude in order to find the 
plaintiffs were joint employees of either Fred Meyer or Expert. 
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Basing a decision on economic reality also calls for an examination 

of the economic effects of decisions such as was done in Reyes v. 

Remington Hybrid Seed Co., Inc., 495 F.3d 403,409 (ih Cir. 2007), where 

the Seventh Circuit explained: 

If Zarate had been solvent, Remington [the putative joint 
employer] would have had to offer him enough that he could 
pay all of the workers' wages (including the minimum wage 
and any overtime premium), cover the costs of fringe benefits 
such as housing, and still be able to make a profit. But when a 
contractor has no business or personal wealth at risk, he may be 
tempted to stiff the workers (as Zarate did), and then treating 
the principal firm as a separate employer is essential to ensure 
that the workers' rights are honored. . ... 

If everyone abides by the law, treating a firm such as 
Remington as a joint employer will not increase its costs. 
Recall that it must pay any labor contractor enough to cover the 
workers' legal entitlements. Only when it hires a fly-by-night 
operator, such as Zarate, or one who plans to spurn the FLSA 
(as Zarate may have thought he could do), is Remington 
exposed to the risk of liability on top of the amount it has 
agreed to pay the contractor. And there are ways to avoid this 
risk: either deal only with other substantial businesses or hold 
back enough on the contract to ensure that workers have been 
paid in full. (Emphasis added.) 

An economic analysis in this case also supports a finding that both Fred 

Meyer and Expert are employees of plaintiffs. 

Both DOL 8 and numerous courts of appeal have drawn on the 

factors set forth in Rutherford and Goldberg in formulating tests for 

8 29 C.F.R. § 500.20(b)(4) and (5); U.S. Dept. of Labor Opinion Letter Fair Labor 
Standard Act (FLSA) (May 11,2001), WL 1558966 (DOL Opinion). That DOL Opinion 
supplemented an earlier August 24, 1999 opinion which is reported as 1999 WL 
1788146. 
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detennining joint employment which can fairly be described as variations 

on the Rutherford or Goldberg theme. The courts of appeals that have 

been most active in deciding FLSA joint employment cases are the 

Second9, Fifth 10, Seventh II, Ninth 12, and Eleventh Circuits 13 . Applying 

those tests here calls for reversing the summary judgment entered in both 

Fred Meyer's and Expert's favor. 

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. Facts Relating To Fred Meyer's Summary Judgment Motion.14 

1. Plaintiffs' Used Fred Meyer's Premises And Supplies 
For Their Janitorial Work. IS 

a. Plaintiffs Worked On Fred Meyer Premises. 

Fred Meyer's Vice President for Maintenance describes the 

janitorial activities at issue as cleaning Fred Meyer stores which 

necessarily take place on Fred Meyer premises. CP 720. See also CP 

2068 (admitting that "Fred Meyer owned the building cleaned"). 

Furthennore, each of the five plaintiffs testified that he or she worked only 

9 Zheng, 355 F.3d at 69, Zheng v. Liberty Apparel Co. Inc., 617 F.3d 182 (2d Cir. 2010); 
Barfield, 537 F.3d at 143; and Carter v. Dutchess Comty Coli., 735 F.2d 8 (2d Cir. 1984). 
10 Castillo v. Givens, 704 F.2d 181, 192 (5 th Cir. 1983); Hodgson v. Griffin & Brand of 
McAllen, Inc., 471 F.2d 235, 237-38 (5 th Cir. 1973); and Mitchell v. John R. Cowley & 
Bro., Inc., 292 F.2d 105, 109 (5 th Cir. 1961). 
II Reyes, 495 F.3d at 409; and Secretary of Labor, u.s. Dept. of Labor v. Lauritzen, 835 
F.2d 1529 (7th Cir. 1987). See also Moldenhauer v. Tazewell-Pekin Conso!. 
Communications Ctr., 536 F.3d 640 (7th Cir 2008) (FMLA). 
12 Torres-Lopez v. May, III F.3d 63\ 646 (9th Cir. 1997); Bonnette v. California Health 
& Welfare Agency, 704 F.2d 1465 (91 Cir. 1983); and Moreau v. Air France, 356 F.3d 
942,950 (9th Cir. 2004) (FMLA). 
13 Antenor v. D & S Farms, 88 F.3d 925, 932 (II th Cir. 1996); Charles v. Burton, 169 
F.3d 1322 (II th Cir. 1999). 

14 For the Court's ease of reference, plaintiffs' discussion of facts will briefly note the 
cases and authorities supporting the relevance of the particular facts. 
15 Rutherford at 331; Zheng at 72; Torres-Lopez at 643-44; DOL, Antenor at 932. 
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at Fred Meyer Stores while working for All Janitorial and/or All 

American. CP 1228 (Alma Becerra), CP 1214 (Ventura-Reyes), CP 1193 

(C. Becerra), CP 1201 (Martinez), CP 1234 (Mendozo).16 

h. Plaintiffs Primarily Used Fred Meyer Supplies. 

The contract between Fred Meyer and first tier contractors such as 

Expert called for Fred Meyer to supply the "chemicals and cleaning 

supplies" needed for the janitorial worker. CP 726; see also CP 752-784 

(list of materials supplied by Fred Meyer). Mr. Ezzo's declaration at 

CP 1055-1056, explains that the monthly cost per store of such supplies 

averaged $2,500 and far exceeded the monthly cost of the other supplies 

or equipment used by the janitors. 17 CP 721, 1309. 

2. Fred Meyer Supervised And Controlled Plaintiffs' 
Work. 18 

Every plaintiff testified that Fred Meyer managed or supervised his 

or her work. CP 1039 (Ventura) ("I was supervised by my Fred Meyer 

manager"). CP 1032 (Alma Becerra) ("Our shift was supposed to end at 

16 Mr. Ezzo also explained that Fred Meyer had the power to insist that work on its 
premises comply with wage and hour laws: 

14. Paragraph 9.2 provides that the work is subject to and comply with the 
Fair Labor Standards Act and other employment laws. I explained in my earlier 
declaration that this language has been customarily included in retail janitorial 
contracts since the early 2000s as retailers became aware of the widespread 
problems with janitor misclassification and unpaid overtime work. This gives a 
retailer the power to require classification of janitors as employees and overtime 
pay for overtime work. 

CP 1058 (emphasis added). 
17 CP 1017, 1023-1024 estimates All Janitorial's "Estimated Average Equipment Replace 
or Repairs Monthly" cost at about $750 a month at a time when it had 15 stores. This 
averages to $50/store/month. As discussed at CP 1055-1056, Fred Meyer's Schedule C 
was $2,500 store/month for tools, chemicals and supplies. See a/so CP 1269. 
18 Rutherford at 331; Zheng at 72; Torres-Lopez at 642; Bonnette at 1470; Hodgson; 
DOL. 
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7:00 in the mornmg, but we could not go home until our Fred Meyer 

manager inspected our work, we made any corrections and they signed us 

out"); CP 1192 (C. Becerra) (supervised by the store manager at Fred 

Meyer); CP 1202-03 (Julio Martinez); CP 910 (Mendoza Solorio) ("the 

only supervisors we had were the managers from Fred Meyer")). 

Moreover, the Fred Meyer contract so provided at ~ 4.1. CP 51, 728. 19 

Much other testimony shows Fred Meyer's control and supervision. 

19 Mr. Ezzo's states in his August 19th declaration at CP \056-1057: 
10. In a typical janitorial situation, the customer will be concerned with 

quality ofthe work and will review the work. But, here, the customer is deciding 
minute details of the work, all of the materials to use, and does daily, detailed 
inspections. These inspections may be the only detailed review of the janitors' 
work. This gives Fred Meyer control over conditions of the work and the 
evaluation of employees' performance. 19 (Emphasis added.) 

See also 1058. In his decIaration at CP 1035, former Fred Meyer Manager Randy 
Dedman stated: 

10. Usually around 7:30 a.m., sometimes as late as 8 or as early as 7: 10, the 
janitorial crew would go to the customer service booth and request that I come 
up and sign them out. By this time I knew what needed to be done, because I 
had already done my inspection. 

II. When I saw things that were not done properly, I instructed them to 
complete what needed to be done. I gave specific directions. It could have been 
anyone of a number of things that they might have missed. I communicated in 
different ways. Mostly, I walked them over to where the problem was, pointed 
and said a few words. 

14. I never saw anyone else in the store with a janitor, inspecting their work. 
As far as I could see Fred Meyer managers, such as myself, were the only 
individuals who inspected the janitors' work. (Emphasis added.) 

In his declaration at CP 1051, former Fred Meyer Manager Robert Fazio agreed: 
5. I knew the janitors were not supposed to leave the store until they had their 

form signed off. I would not sign them off until the work had been done to Fred 
Meyer's satisfaction. (Emphasis added.) 
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3. "Whether The Activities The Workers Perform Are An 
Integral Part Of The Overall Business Operations.,,2o

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