No. **6**8528-7-1

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I STATE OF WASHINGTON

CAROLINA BECERRA BECERRA, JULIO CESAR MARTINEZ MARTINEZ, ORLANDO VENTURA REYES, ALMA A. BECERRA, and ADELENE MENDOZA SOLORIO,

Appellants/Plaintiffs,

V

EXPERT JANITORIAL, LLC dba EXPERT JMS, and FRED MEYER STORES, INC.,

Respondents/Defendants.

RESPONDENT/DEFENDANT FRED MEYER'S APPEAL BRIEF

Francis L. Van Dusen, Jr. Ian M. Messerle MILLER NASH LLP 4400 Two Union Square 601 Union Street Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 622-8484

Attorneys for Defendant Fred Meyer Stores, Inc.

III. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Although this lawsuit was filed in March 2010, Fred Meyer first appeared on September 13, 2010, after Fred Meyer was added as a defendant in the first amended complaint. CP 2119-29. The Second Amended Complaint named seven janitor plaintiffs. CP 1, 2. The one waxer plaintiff, Moises Santos Gonzales, asserted no claims against Fred Meyer. CP 2. On May 27, 2011, Judge Spearman granted Expert Janitorial LLC's ("Expert") partial summary judgment, holding that Expert was not a joint employer of plaintiffs under the MWA. CP 1960-63. All plaintiffs

Saturnino's and Coronado's claims against both Fred Meyer and Expert were dismissed on June 14, 2011. CP 688-690. The remaining five janitors' claims against Fred Meyer were dismissed on Sept. 2, 2011, when Judge Spearman held that Fred Meyer was not a joint employer of the five appealing janitors, based on "the entire relationship and determin[ing] the economic reality and what is the relationship between the plaintiffs and the defendants." RP (9/2/11) at 36.

The two plaintiffs with claims against defendants All American, one of the two actual employers, and Raul Campos, owner of All American, were settled and dismissed on Jan. 17, 2012, shortly before trial.

CP 1908-09. All claims against defendant Sergey Chaban, owner of defendant All Janitorial, were stayed by his bankruptcy in 2011. CP 1674-1676. U.S. Bankr. Judge Timothy Dore terminated the stay and ruled that the janitors' MWA claims against Mr. Chaban were non-dischargeable. *In re Chaban*, Judgment, 11-20583-TWD (W.D. Wash. Bankr. June 8, 2012). The five janitors had not requested a trial date on their MWA claims against Mr. Chaban and their actual employer, All Janitorial, as of the filing of this brief.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS IN THE RECORD

A. FRED MEYER HAS OUTSOURCED STORE MAINTENANCE SINCE 1997 AND JANITORIAL SERVICES SINCE 2004.

Fred Meyer operates large retail stores of at least 100,000 square feet in Washington, Alaska, Oregon, and elsewhere in the Pacific Northwest. In the 1990s, Fred Meyer decided to outsource building maintenance and repairs for its retail stores to regional management companies. CP 719. In 1997, Fred Meyer outsourced the building repair, refrigeration maintenance, lighting and electrical services, snow removal, window washing, pressure washing sidewalks, and landscaping services so its store directors could concentrate on Fred Meyer's core business – selling its retail customers grocery, apparel, home improvement, electronic, garden, and other products under Fred Meyer's "one stop" shopping concept. *Id.*Fred Meyer's 30,000 employees are represented by multiple unions, and the stores sell a wide variety of products, yet only one store employee has wall-to-wall responsibility for all Fred Meyer retail operations— the store director. CP 788-89.

Scott Jones, Fred Meyer Vice President of Facilities, implemented the outsourcing of cleaning/housekeeping functions for all 230 (est.) Fred Meyer stores in 2004 through online competitive bidding for regional

management contracts. CP 718-20, 788. The Kroger Corporation, which purchased Fred Meyer in 1999, pre-qualified potential bidders in 2004 for Fred Meyer's housekeeping management contracts verifying each bidder's financial capability and expertise to perform the management contracts. CP 720. Fred Meyer established the specifications for housekeeping services in the "Scope of Work" or "Scope of Services" section of the management contract. CP 726-754 (hereafter "Contract").

The first management contract to clean the 42³ Fred Meyer Puget

Sound area stores daily between 11 p.m. and 7 a.m. was awarded in 2004 to

Industrial Cleaning Management ("ICM") of Florida. CP 727. Most of the

Fred Meyer janitorial employees who worked in the Puget Sound stores in

2004 were offered other Fred Meyer positions primarily in grocery union

night-stocking positions. CP 790-91. Fred Meyer assigned responsibility

for enforcing its management contracts for building repair, energy

conservation, maintenance, and housekeeping in all 42 Puget Sound stores,

including the eight stores where the five plaintiffs worked, to Puget Sound

zone Regional Facilities Manager Steve Tuggle from 2005 to the present.

³ Because Fred Meyer phased out smaller stores that did not have food or other retail products and built new larger stores with a full range of products in the Puget Sound region, the 42 number is approximate for the three years at issue, March 2007 to April 2010. CP 720-21; 1446.

CP 790-91. The Fred Meyer Contract limited the housekeeping duties to wall and floor cleaning, floor waxing, restroom cleaning, and other housekeeping tasks that were not integral to Fred Meyer's retail business.

CP 1440-1445. Fred Meyer did not contract out housekeeping functions substantially related to retailing, such as cleaning food preparation areas, cutting surfaces, produce shelves and bins, product shelves, and implements in the deli, meat, and seafood departments. CP 1440-45, 1667.

In early 2007, Fred Meyer's Contract for cleaning Puget Sound stores was with defendant Janitorial Maintenance Supply, LLC ("JMS"). CP 720-21. In August of 2007, Fred Meyer approved JMS' assignment of its Contract to clean Fred Meyer's Puget Sound stores to Expert, based in Tennessee. CP 745-46.

B. EXPERT SUBCONTRACTED OUT THE HOUSEKEEPING WORK FOR 42 PUGET SOUND STORES TO NINE SUBCONTRACTORS.

Fred Meyer's management Contract with Expert is a form agreement that Fred Meyer adapts for all its management companies to purchase building maintenance and housekeeping services for all its stores, so Fred Meyer store directors can concentrate on retailing and supervising the 30,000 store employees, rather than maintaining a building. CP 746,

788. The Contract's "Scope of Work" describes what parts of the store are to be cleaned, which floors waxed, the frequency of waxings and cleanings, the restroom cleaning standards, and other cleaning specifications all of which must be completed while Fred Meyer is closed from 11 p.m. to 7 a.m. CP 792-93, 798-803. The Contract required more cleaning, waxing and polishing functions for tile floors than concrete floors. *Id.* Unlike Fred Meyer's management companies in Oregon who hired their own janitors or franchised the housekeeping work, Expert subcontracted the cleaning to "at least nine different service providers" to provide housekeeping services at the 42 Puget Sound stores between 2007 and March 2010. CP 68-69.

Plaintiffs sued two of these service providers (and their owners) as their actual employers, alleging that they were misclassified as independent contractors: defendants All Janitorial (Chaban) and All American Janitorial (Campos). CP 1, 2. All American employed only one janitor/appellant for two months in 2010 (Ventura-Reyes); All Janitorial employed all five janitor/appellants at different times. *Id*.

All American and All Janitorial maintained, repaired, and replaced all the mechanized equipment for cleaning, waxing, stripping, and polishing the floors. CP 703, 1012, 1016. Janitors locked the service providers'

mechanized equipment during the day with bicycle locks, and Fred Meyer store personnel were not told the combinations. CP 887. Waxers hauled mechanized waxers on trailers from store to store. CP at 1269.

Under the contract, Fred Meyer provided JMS and Expert with the consumable restroom and cleaning items such as toilet paper, paper towels, hand soap, and cleaning fluids. CP 721, 726-27, 752-54. Fred Meyer employees used the same cleaning materials and restroom supplies during the day to clean up spills in the store aisles and resupply the restrooms. CP 721. In some stores, both Fred Meyer and the service providers maintained separate vacuum cleaners.⁴ The cleaning fluids were specified in the Contract for safety reasons, in part, because grocery produce is exposed to cleaning fluid fumes. CP 721, 752-54. The janitors' primary duty was to use the service providers' mechanized equipment to scrub and buff the floors when the store was closed. CP 720-21, 793, 798-803. When the janitors needed more supplies, they contracted Marcos Flores, the janitors' supervisor at both All Janitorial and All American. CP, 868, 875, 882, 894.

⁴ Portions of the store were locked at night, such as Fred Meyer Jewelers, whose carpets were cleaned by Fred Meyer employees when the store was open. CP 721.

Janitors and employees for other building maintenance vendors worked when the stores were closed. CP 721. "Time of completion of the Work is of the essence of this Agreement." CP 727. The five janitor appellants testified they arrived when the stores closed at 11 p.m. and were still there as the stores reopened at 7 a.m. After they completed the cleaning, they asked arriving Fred Meyer employees to initial Expert work orders certifying completion. CP 842, 858, 878, 899, 913.

C. EXPERT'S PERFORMANCE OF THE FRED MEYER CONTRACT.

Susan Vermeer is Expert's western regional Vice President. CP 68, 69. Her responsibilities included managing Expert's housekeeping contract with Fred Meyer. *Id.* Since 2007, one or two Expert district managers who (like her) are based in Washington report to her and assist with the Fred Meyer Contract. CP 70.

Ms. Vermeer and her district managers periodically visited each Fred Meyer store and met with the Fred Meyer store directors. CP 70. Mr. Tuggle, the Fred Meyer regional manager, relayed housekeeping concerns from Fred Meyer stores to Expert's supervisors, such as Ms. Vermeer. CP 794, 95. Because Ms. Vermeer and Mr. Tuggle are

married, Ms. Vermeer was the most accessible Expert supervisor to Mr. Tuggle. CP 795-96.

The plaintiffs' actual employers maintained all of the personnel and pay records relating to its janitors. CP 96. Fred Meyer never saw any of All Janitorial's or All American's payroll or personnel records for the janitors, but required Expert to audit I-9 forms for compliance with federal immigration law. CP 72, 91, 729, 730-31. Fred Meyer required Expert to confirm that the janitorial service providers complied with all labor, employment, and safety laws. CP 730-31, 817. Expert and All Janitorial terminated their subcontracting relationship in January 2010, when Expert replaced All Janitorial with All American as Expert's service provider for 19 of the Puget Sound stores under Fred Meyer's contract. CP 96, 101.

When Fred Meyer decided that one of Expert's service providers failed to meet the Contract's performance standards in a store, it directed Expert to replace the failing service provider in that store with a crew from another service provider. CP 722.

The five janitors all testified that no Fred Meyer store employee reviewed or commented on the janitorial work until asked to sign the Expert

work order at 7 a.m. or later. 5 CP 842, 861, 885-86, 899. Plaintiffs testified that one of the two janitors in each store presented an Expert work order form at the end of every shift to any Fred Meyer employee who would sign them. Id. Plaintiffs testified Fred Meyer approval was routine, once a Fred Meyer employee was located who would sign the Expert form. CP 842, 859, 885-86, 899, 905, 914. All Janitorial and All American used the Expert work orders as vouchers for payment by Expert. CP 703-704. All American and All Janitorial, not Fred Meyer, retained the filled-out Expert work orders. CP 794. If the store directors later complained to Mr. Tuggle that the work was not completed, Fred Meyer told Expert to address the problem. CP 793, 794. For example, All Janitorial supervisor Marcos Flores called janitors back to clean the Fred Meyer Burien store during the day after receiving store director complaints. CP 896. The janitors testified that their work was excellent, and they rarely had to correct mistakes. CP 867, 905, 914.

-

⁵ An e-mail shows Steve Tuggle of Fred Meyer and Expert supervisors once scheduled night visits at stores with the concrete floors to make sure the correct buffers were used to preserve the warranty on the concrete floor finish. CP 815. The five janitors worked at eight stores with tile floors, and never cleaned concrete floors. CP 1667.

D. ALL JANITORIAL EMPLOYED ALL FIVE JANITORS TO CLEAN FRED MEYER STORES AND ALL JANITORIAL ALSO CLEANED THE STORES OF FIVE OTHER RETAILERS.

From 2007 to January 2010, defendant All Janitorial was one of nine subcontractors that contracted with Expert to clean Fred Meyer's Puget Sound stores. CP 71. Defendant Sergey Chaban owned and operated All Janitorial. CP 94. In 2007, Expert contracted with All Janitorial to clean seven or eight Puget Sound Fred Meyer stores; by the end of 2009, All Janitorial cleaned 19 Fred Meyer and additional Rite Aid stores in Washington for Expert. CP 1015.

All Janitorial cleaned stores for six other retailers in western

Washington and Oregon . CP 95. Most of Fred Meyer's 42 Puget Sound
stores were cleaned by Expert's other service providers. CP 69.

All Janitorial cleaned Top Foods/Haggen, Ross, TJ Maxx, Office

Depot, and Michaels stores under agreements unrelated to its contract with

Expert to clean Fred Meyer and Rite Aid stores. CP 95. Under its various

contracts, All Janitorial cleaned a total of 60 stores in 2009, only 1/3 of

which were Fred Meyer stores. CP 1015. Less than half of All Janitorial's

revenues came from its contract with Expert to clean the Fred Meyer stores.

Id.

All Janitorial employed all five appealing janitors who worked in eight different Fred Meyer stores, only one of whom worked for a full year (Mr. Reyes); Ms. Solorio worked for just ten weeks, according to plaintiffs' interrogatory answers. CP 195-98. Mr. Martinez testified that he worked for All Janitorial at two separate times and was hired and fired twice by All Janitorial supervisor Marcos Flores. CP at 876-77, 1199.

E. FIVE JANITOR/APPELLANTS TESTIFIED THAT THEY WERE HIRED, TRAINED, TRANSFERRED, PAID, AND FIRED BY ALL JANITORIAL.

The five appealing janitors were all hired and trained by All Janitorial and were assigned and transferred by Mr. Flores at All Janitorial to clean eight Fred Meyer stores during different time periods between March 2007 and January 2010. CP 838, 846, 854-55, 874-75, 893-95, 902, 910-12, 915, 979-88. Adelene Solorio worked for just ten weeks at two stores. CP 913. Plaintiffs Reyes and Martinez testified Mr. Marcos hired and fired them at All Janitorial and then they returned months later to work for All Janitorial a second time cleaning Fred Meyer stores. CP 873, 876-77, 897. All Janitorial transferred every plaintiff to a different Fred Meyer at least once; plaintiffs Reyes, Martinez and C. Becerra were assigned to work at four different stores. CP 897, 979-88. A. Becerra testified All

Janitorial had a constant turnover in janitors: "one after the other after the other." CP 1224.

Four of the five janitor/appellants were trained and supervised by Mr. Flores, the All Janitorial supervisor. CP 701, 702, 847, 855, 875, 894, 1014-15. Ms. Solorio testified that her janitor husband, not Mr. Flores, hired, trained, and supervised her at the two Fred Meyer stores where she worked with her husband during her 10 weeks as an All Janitorial janitor. CP 910-11. Four janitors called Mr. Flores if they wanted to take a day off and get a substitute for their shift. CP 858, 898. Ms. Solorio only communicated with her husband. CP 912. The plaintiffs called the Fred Meyer store personnel who signed the Expert workers certifying completion of the night's work their "managers," but not a single plaintiff testified that anyone at Fred Meyer told them what to do while working at night. See CP 806.

Four of the janitor/appellants testified that they were hired and fired by Mr. Flores at All Janitorial and All American. CP 841, 857, 876, 897.

Ms. Solorio only worked at All Janitorial and quit after ten weeks. CP 913.

Only Mr. Reyes worked for both defendants All Janitorial and All

American; he claimed that he was fired by All American, not by Fred Meyer. CP 1040-1041.

Ms. A. Becerra testified that Mr. Flores fired her and her husband, plaintiff Martinez, in 2008. CP 1224. She said that Mr. Flores said that her store manager "didn't want us there anymore" because they were late to work. *Id.* Both Mr. Flores and store manager Mark Scheid testified under oath that her hearsay statement was false; Mr. Scheid said in his declaration that he never asked to have any janitor fired. CP 705, 777. Plaintiffs' brief relies on this inadmissible hearsay. Brief of Appellants at 12.

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